100-111

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to York County.

Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JAN 20 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JASON ALAN JOHNSON,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002097

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming petitioner's conviction because the evidence against him was the fruit of a warrant obtained after an illegal entry and warrantless search and lacked probable cause?

2.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming petitioner's conviction because the trial judge erred in ruling as a matter of law that the all of the liquid which contained methamphetamine would count towards its weight, admitting such evidence, and ordering defense counsel not to argue to the jury whether all of the liquid was methamphetamine, because this violated the meaning and intent of the statute defining "methamphetamine" and the utilization of this overly broad interpretation deprived appellant of his Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial?

STATEMENT

On June 16, 2011, Jason Alan Johnson (“Johnson”) was indicted for trafficking methamphetamine in excess of 100 grams R. 917. On January 23-27, 2012, Johnson was tried in York County before the Honorable Lee S. Alford and a jury. R. 1. Michael Brown, Jarrus Yates, and Bradford Rawlinson represented Johnson. R. 1. Jennifer Colton and Teasa Weaver represented the State. R. 1. The jury found Johnson guilty of trafficking methamphetamine in an amount over 28 grams. R. 908, ll. 1 - 8. Judge Alford sentenced Johnson to twenty-eight years’ imprisonment. R. 915, ll. 19 - 25. On February 2, 2012, Johnson served his notice of appeal.

After briefing, the Court of Appeals heard argument on March 6, 2014. App. 1. The panel consisted of Judges Huff, Thomas, and Pieper. App. 1, 14. On June 30, 2014, the court issued a published decision affirming petitioner’s conviction with Judge Thomas authoring the opinion. App. 1. State v. Johnson, 410 S.C. 10, 763 S.E.2d 36 (Ct. App. 2014). On July 14, 2014, petitioner filed a petition for rehearing. App. 15. On September 3, 2014, the court denied the petition. App. 23. On December 10, 2014, this Court granted certiorari to consider the Court of Appeals’ decision.

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming petitioner's conviction because the evidence against him was the fruit of a warrant obtained after an illegal entry and warrantless search and lacked probable cause.

If the Court of Appeals' decision is allowed to stand, the notion of a protective sweep will allow the routine conversion of arrest warrants into search warrants. The officers in this case used an arrest warrant to search a hotel room because they suspected drugs might be present. The police accomplished their purpose of making their arrest. The police claimed the threat posed by petitioner—in bed, early on a Sunday morning, wearing only his boxer shorts—justified entry into the hotel room for their own safety. The only purpose of a protective sweep is officer safety, yet the officers in this case charged into the place they claimed was dangerous when they had no reason to enter. This conduct is unreasonable and violated petitioner's Fourth Amendment rights.

Relevant Facts

On February 26, 2011, an arrest warrant was issued for Brandi Quinn ("Brandi") for malicious injury to property. R. 14, ll. 3 – 19. Early the next morning, York County Sheriff's Deputy John Stagner located Brandi's car at the Best Way Inn in Rock Hill. R. 15, ll. 4 – 10. Deputy Stagner kept watch on Brandi's car while awaiting the arrival of backup officers. R. 58, l. 21 – 59, l. 4. Deputy Tony Bolin and Deputy Rachel Gladden arrived at the scene. R. 59, ll. 5 – 7. Deputy Bolin verified which room was Brandi's. R. 59, ll. 17 – 21. Deputy Gladden had the arrest warrant. R. 170, l. 25 – 171, l. 23. On the officers' way to the room, Deputy Gladden

told the other officers there would probably be drugs in the room. R. 193, ll. 21 – 23. It was 8:30 AM on Sunday morning. R. 111, ll. 6 – 16.

The officers began banging on the door and asking Brandi to come to the door. R. 175, ll. 4 - 15. It took a couple of minutes for Brandi to answer the door. R. 61, ll. 2 – 4. The officers could hear movement and whispering inside the room. R. 61, ll. 5 – 9. Deputy Stagner claimed that this made him concerned for his safety. R. 61, ll. 13 – 19. Brandi opened the door only enough to show her face. R. 62, ll. 7 – 14. Deputy Stagner claimed he had “an [eerie] feeling” and the officers barged into the room. R. 62, ll. 7 – 25.

Within 20 to 30 seconds, Brandi was arrested, in handcuffs, and outside the room. R. 193, l. 24 – 194, l. 4; R. 33, ll. 5 – 8. Deputy Stagner testified that Brandi “was being placed in handcuffs as we were going in.” R. 98, ll. 17 – 24. Deputy Bolin testified that they had already detained Brandi and passed her behind them to Deputy Gladden before they entered the hotel room. R. 34, ll. 2 – 8.

After arresting Brandi and entering the room, Deputy Stagner testified that he saw movement underneath the sheets of a bed. R. 63, ll. 4 – 8. Deputy Stagner yelled for the person in the bed to show his hands. R. 99, ll. 20 – 22. Defendant Johnson was the person in the bed and immediately showed his hands to Deputy Stagner. R. 99, l. 20 – 100, l. 1. Deputy Stagner claimed that at this point, Johnson put his hands back under the covers. R. 100, ll. 2 – 9. Deputy Stagner raised the volume of his verbal commands and again yelled for Johnson to show his hands. R. 100, ll. 8 – 13. Johnson again complied and showed the deputies his hands. R. 113, ll. 24 – 25. The deputy never said “show me your hands and keep them out.” R. 114, ll. 6 – 8. Deputy Stagner then “immediately put hands on and detained” Johnson. R. 64, ll. 6 – 8. Deputy Stagner testified that Johnson, who was only wearing a pair of boxer shorts and lying in

bed early on a Sunday morning, posed a threat because he saw “gang-related tattoos.” R. 65, ll. 6 – 10. R. 111, 21 – 25. Corey Catoe, another occupant of the room who was also in bed asleep, also complied with officer’s instructions to show his hands, but Deputy Bolin immediately placed Catoe in handcuffs, too. R. 65, ll. 12 – 13.

None of the occupants of the room made any threatening moves towards Deputy Bolin. R. 42, ll. 13 – 15. None of the occupants of the room ever made any threatening movements or verbally threatened Deputy Stagner. R. 113, ll. 13 – 18. The occupants of the room had been sleeping. R. 112, ll. 1 – 3. The officers woke them up. R. 112, ll. 4 – 5. Even though the arrest warrant for Brandi had been executed and accomplished, the officers entered and stayed in the room. R. 116, l. 25 – 117, l. 3.

Deputies Stagner and Brown then began “a protective sweep” of the room. R. 19, ll. 17 – 20. Deputy Bolin testified that he saw computer equipment; aluminum foil that he thought was consistent with drug packaging, syringes, and razor blades. R. 24, ll. 2 – 12. Deputy Stagner testified that he saw a digital scale. R. 69, ll. 12 – 15. Brandi never gave consent to search the room. R. 86, ll. 22 – 25. The officers never asked Johnson or Catoe for consent to search the room. R. 89, ll. 19 – 21. Johnson asked for a lawyer and told officers they needed a search warrant. R. 90, ll. 14 – 18.

Deputy Gladden called another police officer and got him to obtain a search warrant. R. 185, ll. 7 – 16. The search warrant stated the reason for the search:

Deputies arrested a female suspect from this room on a warrant for malicious injury to property. While deputies were in the room, deputies observed numerous laptop computers and electronic equipment, two unused syringes, a package of razor blades, and multiple small tin foil packages consistent with that of drug packaging. The female suspect taken into custody also has a prior drug-related conviction.

R.920. Deputy Bolin testified that he did not notice any drugs on the syringes nor any drugs in the tinfoil. R. 45, ll. 2 – 10. Deputy Bolin testified that they had no information or evidence that the computer parts were stolen. R. 38, l. 18 – 39, l. 13. He claimed that their probable cause that a crime of been committed was because of the “amount of time that [the occupants] were in the hotel room, the amount of computers in the – in the hotel room, and the work that was being done to them.” R. 39, ll. 23 – 25.

While waiting on the search warrant, all three of the officers kept going in and out of the room. R. 195, ll. 8 – 11. It took approximately one hour for the search warrant to arrive at the scene. R. 36, l. 20 – 37, l. 7. After the warrant arrived, the police found a plastic bottle containing inconsumable liquid and some methamphetamine. R. 337, ll. 7 – 14.

The Court of Appeals’ Opinion

The Court of Appeals concluded that the officers were justified in conducting a protective sweep of the hotel room. App. 7. It distinguished this case from State v. Brown, 289 S.C. 581, 347 S.E.2d 882 (1986), which suppressed evidence obtained from a hotel room, concluding that because the protective sweep in Brown was justified, it was also justified in this case. App. 8. Since the court found the officers lawfully entered the hotel room under the protective sweep theory, it found the items were in plain view and could form the basis for the subsequent warrant. App. 9 – 10.

Discussion

The court erred in finding this warrantless search was reasonable based on the officers’ alleged fear of two men sleeping in their underwear at 8:30 AM on Sunday morning. R. 111, ll. 6 – 16. “The ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.” Riley v. California, 134 S.Ct. 2473, 2482 (2014). “Where a search is undertaken by law enforcement officials to discover evidence of criminal wrongdoing,... reasonableness generally requires the

obtaining of a judicial warrant.” *Id.* The entry into the hotel room was illegal because (1) any perceived threat was not reasonable, and (2) once Brandi was in custody, the officers’ business was concluded. The court even recognized that the officers went to the hotel room looking for drugs as it noted Deputy Gladden’s statement that there would probably be drugs in the room.

App. 2

The court’s ruling that a protective sweep justified the warrantless entry, seizure of Johnson, and search of the motel room allows arrest warrants to be converted into *de facto* search warrants. The officers were there to arrest Brandi. They accomplished their purpose. Whether Brandi backed into the room, as the court gave great weight, is of no consequence. App. 9. The officers detained Brandi as they moved into the room and could not have gotten past Brandi without first detaining her. Within 20 to 30 seconds, Brandi was arrested, in handcuffs, and outside the room. R. 193, l. 24 – 194, l. 4; R. 33, ll. 5 – 8. Deputy Stagner testified that Brandi “was being placed in handcuffs as we were going in.” R. 98, ll. 17 – 24. Deputy Bolin testified that they had already detained Brandi and passed her behind them to Deputy Gladden **before** they entered the hotel room. R. 34, ll. 2 – 8 (emphasis added).

None of the occupants of the room made any threatening moves towards Deputy Bolin. R. 42, ll. 13 – 15. None of the occupants of the room ever made any threatening movements or verbally threatened Deputy Stagner. R. 113, ll. 13 – 18. The occupants of the room had been sleeping. R. 112, ll. 1 – 3. The officers woke them up. R. 112, ll. 4 – 5. Even though the arrest warrant for Brandi had been executed and accomplished, the officers entered and stayed in the room. R. 116, l. 25 – 117, l. 3.

The court then erroneously found that Johnson and his co-defendant—mostly naked and lying in bed—posed such a credible threat to the police that they were compelled to do a

protective sweep for their own safety. This reasoning overlooks the fact that the most rational thing to do for their own safety **was simply to leave**. Brandi was in custody. The police had made the arrest authorized by the arrest warrant. Nothing more was authorized and nothing else was required to protect themselves or accomplish their objective.

The police created their own perceived “threat” by entering the room after arresting Brandi. The police may not rely on manufactured exigent circumstances when their presence in a place is unlawful. Since Brandi was in custody, the arrest warrant did not authorize the police to be in the hotel room. United States v. Coles, 437 F.3d 361, 366 (3rd Cir. 2006); see also, Kentucky v. King, 131 S.Ct. 1849, 1858 (2011) (holding that police officers’ pre-exigency conduct must be reasonable in order for exception to apply); Johnson v. United States, 333 U.S. 10 (1948) (holding that warrantless entry into a hotel room was unjustified because they could have obtained a warrant); Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 344 (2009) (holding that search-incident-to-arrest doctrine did not allow police to search a container inside a vehicle after completing the arrest of the driver).

In Coles, the police manufactured exigent circumstances to justify warrantless entry into a hotel room. Id. The police offered no reason why they could not wait to obtain a search warrant. Id. at 371. The Third Circuit suppressed the evidence because the police’s investigative tactics triggered the exigency. Id. It is unreasonable to believe that the officers were concerned about their safety by entering a hotel room where people were sleeping after the arrest of Brandi had been made. Therefore, the exigent circumstances exception does not apply.

The court also erred in distinguishing this case from State v. Brown, 289 S.C. 581, 347 S.E.2d 882 (1986). In Brown, a capital case, the defendant was wanted for a brutal murder and armed robbery. Id. at 583, 347 S.E.2d at 883. The police received a tip from a desk clerk that

the defendant was in a motel room. Id. at 586, 347 S.E.2d at 884. The police and a SWAT team surrounded the hotel and eventually convinced the suspects to exit the room. Id. The police then searched the hotel room without a warrant. Id. The police claimed the search incident to arrest exception applied. This Court quickly rejected their claim, stating, “Here, [the police] testified that Brown, Brown’s brother and Shawley were arrested outside the motel room. They had been taken away at the time the search was conducted. Accordingly, the exception allowing a search incident to arrest is not applicable.” Id. at 587, 347 S.E.2d 885-86. The court also found that exigent circumstances did not excuse the warrantless search because police had ample time to obtain a search warrant. Id. at 587-88, 347 S.E.2d at 886. While the Court noted that the protective sweep was justified, Brown involved a dangerous murder suspect and his confederates hiding out in a motel room. This case involves a woman wanted for a petty traffic offense and two men sleeping in their underwear on a Sunday morning. No “protective sweep” was necessary or justified and the analysis from Brown finding a Fourth Amendment violation applies.

Since neither the exigent circumstances nor search incident to arrest exceptions justified the police’s presence in the hotel room, the trial judge erred in holding that the plain view exception applied. “[T]he plain view exception requires: (1) the initial intrusion which afforded the authorities the plain view was lawful; (2) the discovery of the evidence was inadvertent; and (3) the incriminating nature of the evidence was immediately apparent to the seizing authorities.” State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 443, 706 S.E.2d 324, 327 (2011). As shown above, the initial intrusion into the hotel room was unlawful.

Furthermore, even assuming the officers had lawfully seen into the hotel room during the initial arrest of Brandi, all they would have seen were computers. The officers admitted they had

no information leading them to believe the computers were stolen. Nothing about the computers themselves was incriminating. It was only after the officers repeatedly entered and re-entered the room that they saw the other evidence listed in the warrant, such as the syringes, razor blades, and tin foil. It was undisputed that the officers continued to go in and out of the room before they obtained a search warrant, which Deputy Gladden excused because of "officer safety issues." R. 369, l. 7 – 370, l. 23. Therefore, the incriminating nature of the evidence (the computers) could not have been immediately apparent.

The search was illegal and the trial judge erred in not suppressing it. Evidence obtained from an illegal search must be suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree. Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963). The police were not investigating Johnson prior to the incident at the hotel room. Therefore, their entire investigation must be suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree. Without any such evidence, Johnson's conviction must be reversed.

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming petitioner's conviction because the trial judge erred in ruling as a matter of law that the all of the liquid which contained methamphetamine would count towards its weight, admitting such evidence, and ordering defense counsel not to argue to the jury whether all of the liquid was methamphetamine, because this violated the meaning and intent of the statute defining "methamphetamine" and the utilization of this overly broad interpretation deprived appellant of his Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial.

Relevant Facts

At most, two boxes of Sudafed were used in the liquor bottle that contained the methamphetamine solution in this case. R. 484, ll. 14 – 23. The method used to make methamphetamine was the "Shake and Bake" method. R. 238, l. 3 – 240, l. 20. Under this method, much of the material is strained off and discarded. R. 239, l. 15 – 240, l. 20. The evidence presented at trial was that the liquid recovered from the hotel room weighed 60.9 grams. R. 744, ll. 8 – 11. The material, as found in the hotel room, was not in its finished state. R. 815, l. 8 – 816, l. 5. The largest box of Sudafed sold in pharmacies contains 3.6 grams. R. 257, ll. 2 – 4. One box of Sudafed, after the "cooking" process, yields between two and three grams of methamphetamine. R. 257, ll. 14 – 17. Therefore, the most finished, ready-for-use methamphetamine the bottle from the hotel room could have contained was six grams.

The trial judge struggled with how to deal with the difference between the weight of the mixture recovered from the hotel room and what the testimony indicated the finished product would weigh. R. 729, l. 25 – 738, l. 11. Judge Alford called it a "question of first impression in South Carolina" whether the entire mixture would count towards the weight of methamphetamine. R. 738, ll. 4 – 6. Defense counsel argued that only the weight of the finished

product should count toward the weight. R. 728, ll. 15 – 8; R. 928. Alternatively, he argued that the weight of the mixture should not come into evidence. R. 728, ll. 3 – 8. Judge Alford ultimately ruled that all of the liquid would count as methamphetamine and that this question was an issue of law. R. 738, l. 4 – 11. Judge Alford also went further and prohibited the defendant from making any argument to the jury that all of the mixture could not be considered methamphetamine. R. 738, ll. 15 – 22. Defense counsel objected on the ground that the statute was overly broad and unconstitutional. R. 738, ll. 12 – 14. His objection was overruled and considered preserved by Judge Alford. R. 738, ll. 23 – 25.

The Court of Appeals' Opinion

The court ruled that “the plain and ordinary meaning of the [methamphetamine] statute defines the weight of methamphetamine to include the weight of the mixture of liquid and methamphetamine at issue in this case.” App. 12. The court also upheld the trial judge’s prohibition on arguing the issue to the jury because the argument would be “an erroneous statement of law.” App. 14.

Discussion

Under the Court of Appeals’ reasoning, a person caught in the process of making methamphetamine is a worse criminal than a person who has finished making it. See United States v. Marshall, 908 F.2d 1312, 1333 (7th Cir. 1990) (“A person who sells LSD on blotter paper is not a worse criminal than one who sells the same number of doses on gelatin cubes, but he is subjected to a heavier punishment.”) (Posner, J., dissenting). The Court of Appeals erred in ending its statutory construction analysis with the determination that code sections 44-53-110, 44-53-210, 44-53-375, and 44-53-392 are plain and unambiguous. The court misapprehended Johnson’s argument that the rules of statutory construction require more specific statutes to control over more general statutes.

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