STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal From York County  
Hon. Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2014-002097  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

FEB 13 2015

**S.C. Supreme Court**

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Jason Alan Johnson,

Petitioner.

\_\_\_\_\_  
State v. Johnson, 410 S.C. 10, 763 S.E.2d 36 (Ct. App. 2014)  
\_\_\_\_\_

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

\_\_\_\_\_  
ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar Number 15608

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT

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

as “the act or process of preparing.” Id. A “mixture” is defined to include “a portion of matter consisting of two or more components that do not bear a fixed proportion to one another and that however thoroughly commingled are regarded as retaining a separate existence.” Webster’s Third New International Dictionary 1449 (1986). A “mixture” may also consist of two substances blended together so that the particles of one are diffused among the particles of the other. 9 Oxford English Dictionary 921 (2d ed. 1989).

The South Carolina Legislature did not differentiate between the different substances created at each step of the manufacturing process. It specifically included “**any**” mixture, compound, material, or preparation containing methamphetamine so that once “**any quantity**” of methamphetamine is present, the statute will apply. The inclusion of these terms covers each stage of the process and that to attempt to delineate the intent of the Legislature as to each term is improper. By including these ordinary terms, the statute makes illegal all stages of the very dangerous process of manufacturing methamphetamine.

Using those definitions it is clear the liquid was a preparation, compound, or mixture. The liquid contained methamphetamine. (T.837; R.780). Investigator Nick Schifferle, an expert witness in narcotics, testified the bottle was past the stage where a reaction occurs creating the methamphetamine. He testified the pseudoephedrine had already been converted to methamphetamine. (T.837; R.780). He testified there was more to do to the mixture to create pure usable methamphetamine, meaning it was clearly in a preparation. As a result, the liquid mixture or preparation clearly falls under the auspices of section 44-53-375.

The legislative intent is to criminalize any stage in the manufacturing process of methamphetamine. The testimony in this case demonstrated the volatile nature of the liquid mixture found in the bottle. Investigator Schifferle testified individuals wearing hazardous material suits had to dispose of the bottle and some of its contents. He testified most of the solvents and other materials used in the process are highly flammable. (T.837-841; R.780-784).

Further, the fact the legislature also sought to punish those that have completed the process and seek to harm the environment and possibly others by criminalizing the disposal of the waste formed after the methamphetamine is extracted does not alter the intention to criminalize to the fullest extent possible the actions of someone in the process of making the drug. See S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-376(A) (Supp. 2011). The fact the disposal of the by-products is itself a crime demonstrates the seriousness to which the legislature takes the manufacture of methamphetamine. The legislature clearly intended to criminalize the act of trafficking in a substance or a liquid mixture this volatile and destructive.

Petitioner asks this Court to look to the way federal courts and several states interpret their statutes using the “market-oriented” approach. He points to Chapman v. United States, 500 U.S. 453 (1991), and cases that follow Chapman in the Federal Courts. In Chapman, the Court found that the blotter paper onto which LSD is infused should be included in the weight of the drug. The Court noted that “Congress adopted a ‘market-oriented’ approach to punish drug trafficking, under which the total quantity of what is distributed, rather than the amount of pure drug involved, is used to determine the length of the sentence.” Id. at 461, 111 S. Ct. at 1925. The reason for this decision was the fact

the blotter paper could be consumed and would be part of what was sold when the LSD was sold.

Two important factors distinguish the Chapman case from the case at bar. First, Chapman and the cases that have followed all deal with federal offenses and how to apply federal sentencing guidelines. In Chapman, there was no question that the substance at issue contained a “mixture” of LSD; the only question was whether the sentence should be based on the weight of pure LSD or on the weight of the LSD and the “carrier,” or blotter paper. The Chapman court discussed the “market-oriented” approach to punishing drug trafficking, under which the total quantity of what is distributed, rather than the amount of pure drug involved, is used to determine the length of the sentence. Id. at 461, 111 S. Ct. at 1925.

The other important distinction between Chapman and the case at hand was made by the Chapman Court itself when it found methamphetamine was to be treated differently under the federal statutes. In discussing the sentencing statute the Court noted:

With respect to various drugs, including heroin, cocaine, and LSD, it provides for mandatory minimum sentences for crimes involving certain weights of a “mixture or substance containing a detectable amount” of the drugs. With respect to other drugs, however, namely phencyclidine (PCP) or methamphetamine, it provides for a mandatory minimum sentence based either on the weight of a mixture or substance containing a detectable amount of the drug, or on lower weights of pure methamphetamine.

Id. at 459, 111 S. Ct. at 1924.

South Carolina has not adopted the Federal Sentencing Guidelines and our sentencing statute makes no distinction between a mixture and the pure drug as the

federal drug statutes do for methamphetamine. Therefore, the definition found in section 44-53-210(d) clearly calls for “any material, compound, mixture, or preparation which contains any quantity of . . . methamphetamine” to be included in the weight calculated for determining sentencing.

Other states have addressed the issue of how to determine weight for sentencing purposes based on state statutes. In an Illinois case, People v. Haycraft, 349 Ill. App.3d 416, 811 N.E.2d 747 (2004), law enforcement found several containers containing a clear liquid and took samples of the liquid, which was later identified by a forensic chemist as methamphetamine and the weight of the liquid testing positive for methamphetamine was more than 900 grams. Haycraft argued that the State did not prove that he possessed more than 900 grams because until the cooking process was completed, he only possessed the ingredients for methamphetamine. The Court found, “Methamphetamine is its ingredients, i.e. anhydrous ammonia, pseudoephedrine, and lithium, combined in a mixture, whether cooked to its final, marketable form or not.” Id. at 428, 811 N.E.2d 759. The Court found that Haycraft combined the ingredients into the container; thus, the mixture in the container constituted a “substance containing methamphetamine,” which is the wording used in the Illinois statute and is very similar to the wording used in our statute.

In People v. Reynolds, 358 Ill.App.3d 286, 831 N.E.2d 1103 (2005), the Appellate Court of Illinois, Fifth District, relied on Haycraft, when it found that “if the legislature intended to restrict the scope of the statute to a substance containing methamphetamine that was usable, ingestible, or marketable, it would have specifically

excluded from the gram amount any by-product or waste resulting from the manufacturing process.”

In State v. Michael, 234 S.W.3d 542 (2007), the Missouri Court of Appeals, Eastern District, Division Two, found enough evidence existed for a reasonable juror to infer that Michael possessed methamphetamine with the intent to distribute. The “meth oil” was found in a jar between Michael’s feet in his car. Law enforcement took a sample of the oil for testing and destroyed the remainder of the meth oil due to its hazardous nature. The sample weighed 13.27 grams. The officer who took the sample testified that there was “substantially more” meth oil in the container and that the amount in the container was more than would be used for personal use if reduced to the finished product.

In Jones v. State, 235 S.W.3d 783 (Tex. Crim. App. 2007), the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals found that the weight of the bleach that Jones poured the methamphetamine liquid into in the hopes of destroying the methamphetamine could be added to the aggregate weight of the methamphetamine. The Court relied on Melton v. State, 120 S.W.3d 344 (Tex. Crim. App. 2003), in which the Court found that “the State is no longer required to determine the amount of controlled substance and the amount of adulterant and dilutant that constitute the mixture, but rather the State has to prove only that the aggregate weight of the controlled substance mixture, including adulterants and dilutants, equals the alleged minimum weight.” Id.

The case of State v. Rivera, 614 N.W.2d 581 (Iowa App. 2000) is highly instructive because the statute considered is very similar to the one in South Carolina. The Court cited the statute which reads in part:

More than five grams but not more than five kilograms of methamphetamine, its salts, isomers, or salts of isomers, or analogs of methamphetamine, or any compound, mixture, or preparation which contains any quantity or detectable amount of methamphetamine, its salts, isomers, or salts of isomers, or analogs of methamphetamine.

Id. at 583 (citing Iowa Code section 124.401(1)(b)(7) (1997)) (emphasis added).

In Rivera, the Court was determining whether to consider for meeting the five gram requirement the entire contents of a one-gallon glass jar approximately one quarter full of a clear liquid, which sample analysis revealed as a mixture containing methamphetamine and pseudoephedrine. Id. Rivera argued, much as Petitioner does in this case, that only the finished product could count toward the five gram minimum amount. The Court concluded:

The statute specifically states the amount must be five grams or more of “methamphetamine ... or any compound, mixture, or preparation which contains any quantity or detectable amount of methamphetamine....” It does not specify any particular stage of the manufacturing or post-manufacturing process, nor does it indicate an expected yield must be estimated or a pure form must be extracted in order to weigh the narcotic. Although the federal statute seems to require an estimated yield of methamphetamine before sentencing can be entered, the Iowa statute does not require this step as a methamphetamine mixture is prohibited at the same gram weight as completed methamphetamine.

....

We find the statute is plain on its face and does include any compound or mixture which contains any quantity or detectable amount of methamphetamine. Despite Rivera’s arguments to the contrary, the plain meaning of the statute clearly includes methamphetamine in a less-than-finished state. The statutory weight was, therefore, satisfied by including the weight of the liquid seized as it contained a detectable amount of methamphetamine.

Id. at 584 (emphasis added). The same analysis should apply when looking at the plain meaning of the statute in South Carolina.

North Carolina recently had opportunity to consider the same issue of whether the entire weight of an intermediate mixture containing methamphetamine could be used to satisfy their trafficking statute. See State v. Davis, 762 S.E.2d 886 (N.C. App. 2014). The statute criminalizes the manufacture of “28 grams or more of methamphetamine or *any mixture containing such substance.*” Id. at 894 (Italics in original). The North Carolina Court of Appeals concluded the legislative intent, as expressed by the inclusion of “any mixture,” was to include the entire weight of the liquid from the intermediate manufacturing process in which methamphetamine was present. Id.; see also, Lamb v. State, 124 So.3d 84 (Miss. App. 2013) (considering weight of defendant’s stomach contents under a similar statute after he swallowed methamphetamine and chemist testified the substances could not be separated); State v. Peck, 773 N.W.2d 768 (Minn. 2009) (finding entire weight of water in bong that tested positive for methamphetamine could be used for determining weight of drugs under statute containing similar language regarding a mixture, compound, or substance). This Court should construe the “any mixture” in our state’s statute the same way.

The trial court did not err in using the weight of the liquid which was not an ingestible form of methamphetamine because our statute defines methamphetamine as any material, compound, mixture, or preparation which contains any quantity of methamphetamine. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-210(d). The statute clearly allows the weight of the liquid containing methamphetamine to be included in the weight determination for trafficking purposes.

Petitioner also contends the trial court erred in restricting his ability to argue that the jury should only consider the weight of methamphetamine which could be created from the liquid mixture and not the full weight of the liquid mixture itself. First, the issue is not preserved because Petitioner never maintained under Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), or the Sixth Amendment that he was being deprived of the ability to contest an essential element. See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) (providing that in order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court); State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (a contemporaneous objection must be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error).

Further, based on the above discussion, his argument to the jury would amount to an incorrect statement of the law and a trial court should not be required to condone a defendant's direct attempt to mislead a jury by arguing a clearly incorrect statement of law. It is a matter of law whether the jury can only consider the weight of the final product that could be extracted from the liquid or the entire weight of the liquid mixture. To allow Petitioner to argue the jury can consider only the final product, would be to allow him make an argument in favor of an incorrect statement of the law. The trial court properly kept him from making an argument that would only serve to confuse the jury, and allow their verdict to be based on incorrect interpretations of the law. The jury was given the statutory definition of methamphetamine and allowed to determine the weight to assign based on the evidence presented to them. Accordingly, Petitioner was properly restricted from arguing an incorrect matter of law.

Finally, as an additional sustaining ground, even if it were error to consider the entire weight of the liquid mixture, the error was entirely harmless. “The key factor for determining whether a trial error constitutes reversible error is ‘whether it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained.’” State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012) (citations omitted). “An error is harmless if the defendant’s guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence, such that no other result could have been reached.” State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 60, 609 S.E.2d 520, 524 (2005).

The State maintained Petitioner could be convicted of trafficking in methamphetamine 28 to 100 grams based on the weight of the liquid measure or, in the alternative, based on his part in a conspiracy with numerous individuals that would bring him materials such as Sudafed for him to use in the manufacture and distribution of methamphetamine. The State presented the testimony of numerous members of the conspiracy who detailed their purchases of Sudafed for use by Petitioner in manufacturing methamphetamine. (See State’s Exhibits 74-76; R.74-76).

The same individuals, including Brandi Quinn, Shelley Pettigrew, Amanda Caudle, and Christopher Matuse, all testified they received methamphetamine from Petitioner in exchange for the boxes of Sudafed. Further, the testimony clearly supported a jury finding that Petitioner conspired to manufacture more than 28 grams of methamphetamine when the testimony of the various individuals is considered collectively. (T.460-467; 472-479; 569-575; 577-581; 594; 657-660; 714-726; R.408-415; 420-427; 517-523; 525-529; 542; 605-608; 622-674). Petitioner has not raised any issue related to the sufficiency of the evidence to convict Petitioner of the conspiracy

theory proposed by the State to convict him of trafficking in methamphetamines. As a result, any error related to the theory the weight of the liquid mixture could support conviction for trafficking 28 to 100 grams is harmless because there is evidence supporting the theory he was involved in a conspiracy to manufacture and deliver methamphetamine in the amount of 28 to 100 grams.

## CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that Petitioner's conviction and sentence should be upheld and the Court of Appeals opinion should be affirmed.